1970

Carolyn J. Wiese v. Robert D. Wiese : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF CASE

This is a post divorce action for change of custody of two minor sons, ages 7 and 12, of the parties from the defendant father to the plaintiff mother.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff filed suit for divorce against defendant on December 2, 1966 (R-4). Issue was joined on January

9, 1967. The parties executed a Stipulation, dated March 6, 1967, concerning the matters at issue (R 9). Plaintiff did so with the understanding that defendant had agreed to allow her to have the boys if they ever wanted or needed to be with her (T 269). Defendant now disputes this understanding (T 269). Plaintiff is, or was, a naive and gullible person (T 212). She was under great emotional strain (T-81). Anyone can be subjected to pressures which would impair their judgment (T 223). In addition, plaintiff realized that the boys would have a more normal home environment with defendant at that time since he was already romantically involved with another woman he planned to marry and did (R 18, par. 8, T 249). Plaintiff was awarded a divorce from defendant and custody of the minor daughter, Janice, then age 8, and defendant was awarded custody of the two minor sons, Kurt, then age 9, and Michael, then age 5, pursuant to the aforesaid Stipulation, on March 6, 1967 (R 10). The defendant was ordered to pay \$100.00 per month to plaintiff for the support of Janice.

On December 27, 1967, plaintiff executed an affidavit alleging a change of circumstance and requesting modification of the divorce decree to award her the custody of Michael, then age 6, and alleging certain violations by defendant of the divorce decree provision relating to payment of support money and counsel fees. The Court, Judge John F. Wahlquist presiding, tried the case on February 5, 1968, and denied plaintiff's request for change of custody (R 18).

In July and August, 1968, the boys lived with plaintiff in California for two periods of two weeks each (T 7). During that time plaintiff learned that the older son, Kurt, had been troubled by questions regarding his mother's taking dope, trading him and his brother for a car, not loving him but only Michael, and her trying to prove he was mentally retarded (T 9). She had sensed that the boys needed emotional help (T 65) and arranged for the boys to be examined by Dr. Malcolm Liebroder, a clinical psychologist. Both boys were examined on July 12, 1969, and Kurt was also seen on August 19, 1968, and September 29, 1968 (T 165). Dr. Liebroder found that both boys were experiencing emotional difficulties (See T 168 as to Kurt and T 172 and 204 as to Michael). Both boys expressed to their mother (T 8 as to Michael and T 10 as to Kurt) and to Dr. Liebroder (See T 172 as to Michael and T 175 as to Kurt) a desire to live with their mother.

After the boys returned to Utah, Kurt told his father that he wanted to live with his mother for the coming school year (T 325). Defendant told him he could not do so (T 327).

In August and September plaintiff kept in close contact with the boys by phone until defendant had his phone number changed to an unlisted one and refused to give the number to plaintiff (T 257). On October 3, 1968, plaintiff commenced the instant proceedings by her affidavit for change of custody (R 24). During the pendency of the proceedings, defendant had the boys

examined by Dr. Richard S. Iverson, a psychiatrist who referred them to Dr. Clarence D. Swaner, a clinical psychologist. Dr. Iverson found that both boys should have psychiatric treatment at a later time (T 408). Dr. Swaner found that Kurt was emotionally disturbed (T 140) and that "for Michael he seems to need more over support in the life situation and value of placing him with his mother should be seriously considered" (T 156).

Two weeks prior to the trial in May, defendant's wife filed suit for divorce (T 250) and has now obtained her divorce. Dr. Swaner testified that Michael's problem would probably be intensified by not having a step-mother in the home (T 156). At present the boys are being cared for by defendant's elderly parents who have health problems (T 420).

Defendant did not pay for the support of Janice, as ordered by the divorce decree, either before (T 267) or after the trial although his wife was working and he had gross earnings of \$950.00 per month as a civil engineer (T 251) and an additional \$1,700 to \$1,800 gross earnings from Army reserve pay (T 317).

DISPOSITION BELOW

On October 26, 1968 the Honorable John F. Wahlquist issued an Order to Show Cause concerning the custody of said sons returnable November 12, 1968 (R 26). Plaintiff served a Notice of the taking of the Depo-

sition of defendant and the older son, Kurt, on November 4, 1968 (R 23). Debtor moved for an order forbidding the taking of the deposition (R 25). On October 28, 1968, Judge Wahlquist granted Defendant's motion and denied an intervening motion (as to latter see R 27) concerning temporary custody before the trial date and that defendant be required to furnish his phone number to plaintiff to enable plaintiff to call the boys at a reasonable time each day (R 32). On October 31, 1968, plaintiff filed an Affidavit of Bias or Prejudice (R 31). On November 15, 1968 (The trial having been rescheduled for hearing on February 11, 1969, before the Honorable Parley E. Norseth) plaintiff moved for periods of temporary custody in each month thereafter for short periods of time during vacation from school or on week ends and that the phone calls ordered by Judge Wahlquist (R 32) be fixed as to days and hours (R 33). These motions were argued on November 25, 1968. On December 20, 1968, Judge Norseth ordered that the minor sons of the parties be permitted to visit with plaintiff on December 26, 1968 (R 237).

The trial of plaintiff's custody motion was held on Feb. 11, on May 27, and May 28, 1969. On June 5, 1969, plaintiff moved the Court to appoint an expert witness and to reopen the case to receive the testimony of said expert and also certain evidence from plaintiff as to her being willing to be examined by Dr. Richard Iverson, defendant's expert witness, on condition that defendant be examined by plaintiff's expert witnesses, a condition

allegedly rejected by defendant (R 54). Defendant filed an affidavit of Dr. Richard Iverson in opposition to plaintiff's motion to appoint an expert witness and to reopen the case (R. 49). On June 26, 1969, Judge Norseth denied both the custody motion of plaintiff and her motion of June 5, 1969, in a memorandum decision (R 53). Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Modified Decree were signed and filed in this cause on August 4, 1969 (R 58, 59). This appeal is from that Modified Decree denying plaintiff's Motion to Amend the Divorce Decree concerning the custody of the two minor sons, now ages seven and twelve.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks to have the Modified Decree entered in this cause set aside and an order entered modifying the divorce decree in this cause to grant plaintiff custody of the two minor sons of the parties or, in the event a change of custody is not ordered by this court, a new trial concerning the custody of these boys in which Janice, their sister, is permitted to testify, an independent psychiatrist is appointed by the court, and counsel are present when the boys are interviewed by the court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT IT IS IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE MINOR BOYS TO REMAIN IN THE CUSTODY OF DEFENDANT.

Plaintiff well recognizes that this Court must survey the evidence in the most favorable light to the defendant since he prevailed in the court below (*Stone vs. Stone*, 19 Utah² 393, 384 P² 961). In light of these guiding principles, plaintiff proposes to survey the evidence which defendant has produced to establish the critical fact which plaintiff contends was decided contrary to the evidence.

The subsidiary facts in support of this major finding, as distilled from the Findings of Fact and paragraphs of corresponding number (R 58), are the following:

1. A previous motion for change of custody concerning Michael only was denied after a trial, February 5, 1968.

2. Plaintiff's husband told defendant in June, 1968, that plaintiff was "too emotionally unstable to handle her affairs."

3. Plaintiff and her husband harassed defendant prior to June 20, 1968, in efforts to obtain temporary custody of the boys.

4. The sons in question were taken for psychological examinations by plaintiff's husband without defendant's knowledge or consent, and this caused them to question unnecessarily their sanity and emotional well being.

5. Kurt told the trial court he wanted to remain with the defendant.

6. Plaintiff and her husband attempted in California to undermine the boys' relationship to defendant and, by promises of gifts, sought the boys to request a change of custody.

7. Plaintiff's husband permitted Kurt to drive a car to influence him to stay with plaintiff.

8. Plaintiff placed the boys under great emotional pressure by daily phone calls.

9. Defendant has not unreasonably left the boys alone without proper supervision and is able to provide for their care, supervision, and control of them.

10. Plaintiff's remarriage alone is not sufficient to change custody.

Plaintiff respectfully makes the following comments concerning the above facts of corresponding number:

1. Prior Custody Hearing — The prior decision should not be decisive as to this one unless the situation is substantially the same in this case, which it is not since plaintiff was then working full time and single, whereas she is now remarried and a full time homemaker.

2. Plaintiff's Husband's Comment Concerning Her Emotional Instability — The evidence on this point (T

291, 292) is defendant's testimony that plaintiff's husband said "he felt that Carolyn was so emotionally involved and distraught over this that he was just going to take over the handling of all this stuff." Such a statement is not a declaration of the lack of capacity of the person referred to but an explanation as to why it's better for someone else to conduct business of an emotional nature. In any event, plaintiff's virtues must have greatly offset such a serious handicap, if instability can be read into it, as Thomas Harrison nevertheless married plaintiff thereafter on July 20, 1968 (T 351). Since actions speak louder than words and since the time of trial and not a time nearly a year before is the time in question with respect to plaintiff's ability to function appropriately, plaintiff submits that this fact can be given but slight weight, especially in view of the direct evidence of her ability at that time as testified to by Dr. William Brown (T 211) as follows:

"Yes. Mrs. Harrison is an intelligent person. She has not been a scholar, in the sense of someone who would regularly be pursuing knowledge for the strength or power intellectually it might give you. But it has been of the utmost importance to her to know social conventions and expectations. She has been able, and is now able, to assess real life situations very soundly and to behave properly and appropriately. I think she's a capable, adequate person."

3. Harrassment of Defendant by Plaintiff Prior to June 20, 1968 — This was vigorously denied, but accept-

ting it as an established fact, as we must, it is of practically no legal significance in view of the fact that such conduct, regrettable and censorable as it is, would not directly harm the children. The children's well being and not that of the parties is the crucial concern.

4. Psychological Examinations without Defendant's Consent — Plaintiff asserts she has every legal and moral right to ascertain the children's mental and emotional condition as well as their physical condition. Certainly she would have no obligation to get defendant's approval for a physical examination if she had believed there was a physical ailment. Plaintiff believed her sons had emotional problems, and the examinations complained of bore out that suspicion or intuition. In fact, every one of the three experts who examined these boys, two of whom were engaged by defendant, so testified. Dr. Liebroder, plaintiff's expert, testified concerning Kurt as follows (T 168):

"I felt that Kurt was a highly intelligent boy who was under great stress, and that the problems that he was having were really preventing him from making full use of his abilities. I mean more than simply in his accumulation of information. I felt in fact that the accumulation of information in Kurt's situation was almost out of place. It was disproportionately high and I felt that he was trying to rely so heavily on facts and that he was having great difficulty expressing feelings.

"So that, in a well-rounded person, we would expect them to be capable of showing feeling and emotion, of being able to recognize them in themselves, and also to use facts and information in order to make sound judgments.

"And I was concerned particularly with Kurt, because of his great need for structure. His need to rely on fact, to the exclusion again of emotion. So that, while on the intelligence scale he was shown to be in many instances quite a bright boy, on less structure tasks — which would be more comparable to how he would function, more on his own — he didn't show the imagination that we would expect to see. He didn't show the freedom. His performance was very, very sparse. Far less than we would expect from a more well-rounded, shall I say, child."

As to Michael, Dr. Liebroder testified (T 172):

"I felt that Michael's feelings were much closer to the surface than Kurt's were and that a number of his test responses were indicative of feelings of depression, emotional turmoil, conflict, anxiety, and what I refer to as unsatisfied nurturant needs."

"Q. What do you mean by 'unsatisfied nurturant needs'?"

A. These are the kinds of needs that are usually satisfied, by Mother generally, during the early years of life, where the child begins to get some basic feelings of security and belongingness.

Q. And did you have a recommendation as to what you thought would be the remedy in his situation?

A. I felt that Michael needed the stability and security of a family. And, at the time of his evaluation, he expressed some preference to be with his natural mother. It seemed to me at that point that, if this was available, that it would be in his best interests."

Dr. Clarence Doxey Swaner, one of defendant's expert witness, testified as follows (T 140, 141, 142):

"Q. Did you form any conclusions as to Kurt's emotional condition as a result of these two examinations or interviews you had with him?

A. I felt that Kurt is showing some signs of emotional disturbance.

Q. And can you give us some idea as to the degree of emotional disturbance that you found indicated?

A. Oh, he was a very anxious boy. Extremely compulsive. Perfectionist. He was very concerned with a lot of details in his life. Reflecting his insecurity, I think. I made a recommendation that I thought he should be seeing somebody, and —

THE COURT: What do you mean by seeing somebody?

A. Seeing somebody for counseling.

Q. And what type of professional person did you recommend that he see?

A. I recommended that he see a psychiatrist. Because that is what's available in this community.

Q. Did you find his degree of emotional disturbance well above the average. I suppose all children have some degree of insecurity, do they not?

A. Well, I felt he needed some help.

THE COURT: Well, the question was all children have some insecurity. Now what is your answer to that, Doctor?

A. I would hesitate to compare him with other children. I feel Kurt is an individual and as an individual I thought he had some problems and could stand some help.

THE COURT: Does that satisfy you? Does the answer satisfy you?

MR. HANSEN: Just about, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. HANSEN: I'll say this, to clarify —

THE COURT: Don't say anything to me. Go ahead with the witness.

MR. HANSEN: Q. Doctor, do you recommend psychiatric treatment for all of those that you give psychological examinations to? That is in his age group?

A. Well, the children that I see — because of my professional position — are usually in difficulty, and frequently a recommendation is for some type of counseling.

Q. I see. Now did you determine, in the course of your examination of Kurt, any of the factors that you felt might account for the problems he was having?

A. The basic insecurity in his life, and the position he's been put in between his parents — through their divorce — and his insecurity in his life.

Q. Now what, in specifics, did you conclude — if you did — was the cause of the insecurity?

A. Well, the marital discord, and the insecurity. The lack of a stable home situation.

Q. Well, was there anything in his activities, the daily routine, that you thought was out out the ordinary?

THE COURT: Now, Doctor, if you can answer that question, you may. If you can't answer it, say so.

THE WITNESS: It's too general for me.

THE COURT: I thought it would be. Go ahead, and rephrase your question.

MR. HANSEN: Q. Well, did you find any indication that he was left alone too much?

A. I felt he was left alone too much.

Q. Did you find out why he was being left alone so much?

A. Both parents worked.

Q. Did you find out just how early the father and stepmother left home for their employment?

A. It was early. I think around 7:00. I'm not sure. He usually fixed his own breakfast."

Dr. Richard S. Iverson, defendant's other expert witness, testified as follows (T 408):

"Q. Now as a result of these examinations, did you find that any psychiatric treatment for either of these boys was indicated?

A. I was concerned about both of them. I thought with the trauma that they have been through, when this custody is finished, that they would both benefit from some type of treatment. But that is not a certainty. No treatment was recommended at that time because I felt the boys should be given a chance to see how they'll stabilize after the custody is determined. I did not consider it an emergency at that time. Because I considered it appropriate for these boys to be upset. If they hadn't been upset, then I would have been definitely concerned.

Q. Did you find any indication that either of the boys, and Kurt particularly, were emotionally disturbed by the amount of time they

have to be alone in this home? In their father's home?

A. Not particularly that I'm aware of. I can't remember it.

Q. Do you recall whether or not Dr. Swaner indicated any concern in this regard?

A. Dr. Swaner was concerned, I think about both of the boys, with the time they were free alone. But, more so he was concerned about Michael."

5. Kurt's Preference to Remain with Defendant — Kurt's response was to this following leading question: "But you still would like to live with your father, wouldn't you? (T 127)

Kurt had previously, however, expressed a desire to his father that he would like to live with his mother for the school year (T 325), as well as to his mother (T 9) and to Dr. Liebroder (T 175). Michael had expressed his desire to live with his mother to his mother (T 8), to his father (T 270), to Dr. Liebroder (T 172), to Dr. Swaner (T 153), and most importantly, to the trial court (T 116). In the latter case, he expressed this desire as follows:

"Q. Do you want to live any place else but with your father?

A. With my mother.

Q. You mean you want to live with your mother?

A. (Nodding head in the affirmative)

Q. Why?

A. Because I love her.

Q. Dont you love your father?

A. I love him, too, but I love my mother the most."

6. Promises of Gifts -- Plaintiff submits that this finding has no support in the evidence and is contrary to the testimony of the boys (See T 118 as to Michael and T 126 as to Kurt).

7. Kurt Driving Stepfather's Car -- The circumstances were as follows (T 388):

"I let Kurt drive the Chrysler New Yorker for a distance of about 200 feet, at a speed never exceeding five miles an hour, on a dead-end cul-de-sac, going towards the dead-end of a cul-de-sac, in an area of vacant land in Palos Verdes, California."

8. Phone Calls to Boys -- Defendant testified that plaintiff and her husband were calling four and five times a day (T 274). Plaintiff's husband denied that (T 358, 359). Plaintiff's phone bills (Exhibit "L") corroborate the latter's testimony; hence plaintiff contends this finding is contrary to the clear weight of the evidence. The sister of the boys was prepared to testify concerning the favorable reaction of the boys to plaintiff's calls but the court refused to accept such testimony (T 392).

9. Boys Being Left Alone -- There is no dispute in the evidence that the boys were necessarily left alone much of the time because ~~the~~ both defendant and his wife

working (T 251) and leaving home about 6:30 a.m. Although the court found this was not unreasonable, it certainly is not desirable, and the emotional well being of the boys would require it to be otherwise if this is possible. It is significant that defendant's elderly parents did not testify at trial as to their willingness to assume an active role in caring for these young boys despite their age and health.

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