1970

## **Carolyn J. Wiese v. Robert D. Wiese : Brief of Respondent**

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

## ARGUMENT POINT I

The Trial Court's Findings that it is in the interest of Michael and Kurt to remain in the custody of the Respondent should not be reversed and are supported by more than a preponderance of the evidence.

The well recognized principle that this court must survey the evidence in the most favorable light to the prevailing party in the court below (*Stone vs. Stone*, 19 U. 2d 393, 384 P.2d 961) should be further examined under the principle set down in earlier equity cases. That is where the case was regularly tried and the trial court found on all material issues its findings will not be disturbed by the Supreme Court unless they are so mani-

festly erroneous as to demonstrate oversight or mistake which materially affect substantial rights of Appellant. (*McKay vs. Farr*, 15 U. 261, 49 P. 649; *Klopenstine vs. Hays*, 20 U. 45, 57 P. 712; *Elliot vs. Whitmore*, 23 U. 342, 65 P. 70.)

The Supreme Court, although it has power to review facts in an equity case, will not disturb findings made therein by the trial court unless evidence is clearly insufficient to sustain such finding. (*Sidny Stevens Implement Co. vs. South Ogden Land Building and Improvement Co.*, 20 U. 267, 58 P. 843).

The Supreme Court in an equity case cannot interfere with the Trial Court's findings of fact where the evidence on the controlling questions is not only in sharp conflict, but justifies the findings. (*Beesley vs. Boardman*, 50 U. 149, 166 P. 991).

These general principles should be applied to the divorce case at issue under the rule of *Lawlor vs. Lawlor*, 121 U. 201, 240 P.2d 271), that the Supreme Court should be reluctant to modify a decree of divorce because the evidence is contradictory and the Trial Court, having seen and heard the witnesses, is in a better position to determine their credibility.

The Trial Court's findings of facts are amply supported by a preponderance of evidence.

1. The Appellant had the court review the matter of custody of Michael less than a year before bringing a second motion to modify the decree respecting custody of Michael and Kurt; the court denied any change April 22, 1968 (R 58). On Appellant's motion and affi-

davit for change of custody of Michatel April 22, 1968 the Trial Court in its findings and order found facts in part as follows: (R 18)

“3. The Court finds that the natural mother is more capable than the average person, is further more easily upset than the average person and has less emotional strength than the average.

4. That the plaintiff has less than average interest in her own children, as demonstrated by her reaction to visitation and pickup.

5. That the plaintiff is not absent these qualities but less than average inthem and markedly so.

6. The Court finds the plaintiff is warm, but that her affections for her children are not real and her description is basically one that she wants the children because the children are qualities rather than because the children are children.

7. With respect to the father, the defendant, the Court finds the father is brighter than normal and much more capable than normal.”

The Appellant personally failed to show any changed interest in her children as manifest at the conclusion of the hearing for change of custody of Michael. She failed to even say goodbye to Michael and Kurt before leaving for California (T 286) (T 287), failed to write or contact them until after her contemplated marriage to Mr. Thomas D. Harrison had finalized (T 290). However, it was not Appellant who manifest new or changed inter-

est in Michael and Kurt but Mr. Harrison. It was Mr. Harrison who:

A. Contacted Mr. Hansen in Salt Lake City to act as attorney in May 1968 (T 377).

B. Personally picked up Michael and Kurt for their first two week visitation in California (T 291).

C. Took Michael and Kurt to a psychologist in Salt Lake City to build evidence for the change of custody hearing he was contemplating (T 377).

D. Encouraged the sending of telegrams during June 1968, part of which were sent from his home listing his residence telephone number (T 390) demanding the children be placed on a plane for an immediate visit in California in June 1968 (Defendant's exhibits 7 through 12) (T 390).

E. Financed the telephone and telegram harassment of Respondent and Michael and Kurt.

F. Offered monthly airplane trips to California (T 374) (T 312) (Defendant's exhibit 5).

G. Wrote the letters setting out dates of visitation (Defendant's exhibits 3 and 4).

H. Permitted Kurt, then age 10, to drive his Chrysler New Yorker car (T 388) (T 379).

I. Had this telephone wired to record telephone conversation (Plaintiff's exhibit D).

J. Provided the stamped pre-addressed envelopes and codes for secret communication with the children (T 310) (T 311) (T 355) (T 356).

Although Appellant has remarried and is not working there is no substantial evidence that Appellant has changed regarding her children as found by Judge Wahlquist at the February 1968 hearing (R 18).

2. The fact that Thomas D. Harrison believed Appellant was too emotionally involved and distraught to handle her affairs regarding visitation with Kurt and Michael (T 291) (T 292) and thereafter married Appellant on July 20, 1968 (T 351) should not compel the Court to a conclusion that the Trial Court erred in its findings nor can it be concluded that Appellant became stable and gained capacity by the mere fact of marriage to Thomas D. Harrison. Mr. Harrison had lost custody of his children to his former wife. He could not bring himself to the reality that his former wife, who subjected him to indignities and failed to fulfil his needs to be loved and caused a fear of rejection in him (T 219), was better off than his present wife, the Appellant, in that she was awarded the children by her prior marriage to Mr. Harrison.

Appellant cites as evidence of her new found emotional stability and change from being an impulsive person the testimony of William H. Brown. It should be noted that this witness only spent two hours with Appellant (T 221). This brief interview with William H. Brown was arranged for by Mr. Harrison prior to the marriage for the purpose of obtaining helpful testimony from him as an expert witness. The two statements made by William H. Brown (T 211) one of which is quoted in Appellant's brief attempting to show a great change in Appellant were observed to be selfserving statements

made by Appellant which the court questioned at (T 211).

“A. I had made comment in the report that I think earlier in life Mrs. Harrison had been quite a naive person. On sentence-completion tests she wrote: ‘When I was a child, I was cheerful and well-behaved.’ And I think being cheerful and well-behaved has sort of been a pattern in her life, earlier in her life, until she learned that oftentimes simply being a cheerful, pleasant, well-behaved person did not bring its rewards.

The Court: Wouldn’t you call that a self-serving declaration, Doctor?”

The expert witness, William H. Brown, failed to take any history of the Appellant (T 214) as to whether her natural mother gave up custody of Appellant (T 214), as to whether Appellant’s mother advised her not to retain custody of Kurt and Michael in the divorce (T 215) or even the fact that Appellant through stipulation gave Respondent permanent custody of Kurt and Michael in the original divorce proceeding (T 215).

3. The Trial Court’s findings regarding Appellant’s harassment of Respondent were as follows:

“3. That prior to the marriage of the plaintiff and Thomas D. Harrison, the plaintiff and her future husband, unreasonably harassed the defendant while he was on active duty at Camp Williams, Utah, with purported emergency telephone calls and telegrams requiring the defendant, Robert D. Wiese, to be called from the field

when in fact it was not an immediate emergency regarding visitation and custody of the minor boys.”

These facts manifest a complete disregard by the Appellant for the best interest and welfare of Kurt and Michael, as late as June 1968 and indicate that Appellant’s demands were promoted by immature short sighted, selfish and impulsive thinking on the part of Appellant in contrast to the Appellant’s expert witness, William H. Brown’s testimony of Appellant’s present character and personality.

Respondent testified that the summer visitation was originally to have been in August 1968, because Appellant had planned to get married then (T 287). In June 1968 Appellant demanded the children be sent to her on one days’ notice. Mr. Wiese testified regarding this.

“Q. And why did she tell you that she wanted the boys in August.

A. Because she was planning to get married.

Q. All right. And at that time did you both agree, and make your plans, based on her request to have the boys in California in August?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. And when was the first time that she advised you that she wanted the boys in June?

A. The night before she wanted them.

Q. And what were you doing at the time that

she called and told you she didn't want them in August, but she wanted them in June?

A. Packing to go to summer camp with the Reserves.

Q. All right. And did you in fact comply with this demand that she have them not in August, but in June?

A. No. There was no way I could. We even tried to start washing the kids' clothes, and getting them ready to go. But it was just — Well, I could just see that we couldn't do both things.

Q. What did she tell you, when you told her that you just couldn't get the boys respectably ready, or whatever words you used, to send them down?

A. To just send them down with the shirts on their back."

4. The Court's findings regarding psychologist examination without consent were as follows: (R 58)

"4. That Thomas D. Harrison took the two minor boys of the parties to a clinical psychologist when said minors were then and there in the custody of the said Robert D. Wiese, without the knowledge or consent of the natural father of said minor boys and that said minor boys were unnecessarily caused to question their mental sanity and emotional well being."

These examinations as previously noted were ar-

ranged for by Thomas D. Harrison and his attorney to obtain expert testimony not to obtain any treatment for Kurt and Michael. Respondent testified concerning the effect of this examination as follows:

“Q. What effect, if any, did this have as to your peace and tranquility in your home?

A. Well, it was rather upsetting. We were also by this time receiving a deluge of mail. And somewhere in this period is when I found out that Mr. Harrison had taken the boys to see Dr. Liebroder, without any permission or even consulting me on it. So I was a little upset about the whole thing, and it naturally upset the household.

Q. Prior to this period of time, had either Mr. or Mrs. Harrison written to you, requesting that you take the boys in for a psychological evaluation, or to see a psychiatrist?

A. No.”

and as testified by Respondent: (T 295) (T 296)

“Q. Now did you learn, first of all, that your boys were going to be taken to be psychoanalyzed in advance, before they were taken?

A. No.

Q. Were you consulted by anyone — either Mr. Harrison, your former wife or counsel for Mrs. Harrison — with regard to your desires on psychoanalysis of Kurt and Michael?

A. No.

Q. All right. Then after they were psycho-analyzed how did you first learn of this?

A. Well, the children appeared somewhat disturbed, and were rather aloof. And, in just talking to them, Kurt had mentioned the fact that he had something to tell me. We were just discussing this, and he mentioned that he had been taken to a psychiatrist or a psychologist. He didn't know at this time. And I was quite upset about it.

Q. All right. Now then, how did Kurt react to this?

A. Well, he was worried about it. Because he had been aware of this idea that his grandmother — Carolyn's mother — had from the time he was a little child, had felt that he should have help in some silly way, although she had never seen him or visited him. She had said that he needed help, and he had been aware of the fact that there had been talk of sending him for help, or to a military school, and he had often asked me if I really thought he was crazy. He was worried about this, and I said: "No, you are not crazy, and that they have no reason to take you there, unless at least we know what it's for." And he was very worried about it.

Q. All right.

A. About this.

Q. Now were Kurt and Michael instructed regarding whether or not you were to know that they had been taken?

A. Yes, they were instructed. And they were instructed that I was not to be told, by Mr. Harrison."

Upon learning of the examinations of Kurt and Michael by Malcolm Liebroder, Respondent contacted Dr. Richard S. Iverson who has specialty training in medicine, surgery, obstetrics and gynecology followed by 3 years training in psychiatry and neurology, and has passed the American boards examination and is a Certified Psychiatrist, is a fellow in the American Psychiatrist Association, Instructor of Psychiatry, University of Utah Medical School, Chief of Psychiatry at St. Benedict's Hospital and the Thomas D. Hospital in Ogden, Utah (T 394) (T 395).

Dr. Iverson testified regarding the difference between a psychologist and psychiatrist as follows: (T 396)

"A. Well, first of all a clinical psychologist is not a doctor of medicine. The next thing is the training is different. A clinical psychologist would have an average of six to eight years training. They're not trained primarily in the area of what we call diagnosis and treatment. Their training is in so many different fields. A clinical psychologist primarily relates to what we call personality testing. They do some counseling, and some of them have excellent training and excellent experience in doing treatment of emotional dis-

orders. I think it varies from clinical psychologists to other clinical psychologists, where the psychiatrists' training primarily is in the area of diagnosis and treatment."

Regarding tests made upon Kurt by the two clinical psychologists, the results were as follows:

Malcolm N. Liebroder, July 1968: (T 196)

Verbal IQ Score 125

Performance IQ Score 94

Clarence D. Swaner, January 1969: (T 146)

Verbal IQ Score 148

Performance IQ Score 125

Dr. Iverson testified regarding the difference in the results of the tests (T. 400).

"Q. All right. Now, Doctor, if the testing by Mr. Swaner in January was substantially higher, as has been pointed out, do you have any explanation that they're both valid?

A. I would approach this from two things. One, the first impression would be as the boy was more relaxed. He was functioning better, and felt under less pressure at the time that he saw Dr. Swaner. But again I want to point out that this is not really too much of a difference.

Q. Under either test, could you describe Kurt's intellect?

A. Well, he is a very bright little guy. But

the performance information on this shows that he's under a lot of pressure right now. Because anxiety tension, fears, interferes with ability to perform, but do not interfere as much with ability to talk.

Q. Okay. So the performance of 94 on July 12th, and the performance of 115 in January by Dr. Swaner, what would that indicate to you, if anything?

A. Well, it indicates he was either feeling better, or the circumstances under which he was tested were better. Something had improved."

Dr. Iverson's opinion was that Kurt and Michael should be left with their father (T 402) (T 403).

"A. All right. Now the fact, as I see it — and I'm admitting this is an interview with the father, so this is all I have to judge by — that I saw the boy having a good relationship with his father. He was functioning well, and getting by in school. He seemed happy. Was interested. Was active. And it would be my considered opinion, from the information I have, that it would be a significant loss to this boy to be separated from his father.

Q. Okay. Now in connection with Michael at that time. Michael, the younger of the two. Based upon your examination of both the father and Michael, based upon your professional training, do you have an opinion regarding Michael's relationship with his father and with his brother

Kurt?

A. I think it would be a significant loss for him to lose his father and his brother, and I think it would be tragic to separate the boys from their dad.

Q. Do you have an opinion as to whether this may create some mental problems, with either or both of these boys, if they're separated?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Of what nature?

A. I think that the deprivation that would occur at this particular time could lead to what I would consider depression later on in the teen years or in the early twenties. It might possibly manifest itself in antisocial behavior."

Dr. Iverson's final opinion was: (T 405)

"A. It's my impression, from the information that I have, that the boys would be better off staying where they are."

Clarence D. Swaner testified regarding the intelligence of Kurt based upon the IQ tests (T 149).

"A. Well, on this particular test — assuming that one portion of the test — only 1% of the children his age would get a score higher than him.

Q. Only 1% of the children his age would score higher on that particular testing?

A. That's right.

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